# QUALITY ASSESSMENT OF THYROID ULTRASOUND AND IMPLEMENTATION OF A STANDARD REPORTING TEMPLATE TO BE USED IN TRAINING HOSPITALS

A research report submitted to the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medicine in the branch of Diagnostic Radiology

Johannesburg, 2017

# DECLARATION

I, Sunette Claassens, declare that this research report is my own work. It is being submitted for the degree of Masters of Medicine in the branch of Diagnostic Radiology at the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted before for any degree or examination at this or any other University.

\_\_\_\_\_Signature

\_\_\_\_\_ Day of \_\_\_\_\_2017

# DEDICATION

To Arend. Without you my dreams would have stayed just that, dreams.

# **PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS**

This research was presented in poster format at the 2<sup>nd</sup> RSSA/ SASPI congress, November

2016; and won first prize.

The abstract of the above-mentioned poster will be published in the South African Journal of Radiology.

#### ABSTRACT

Ultrasound is the conventional and best imaging modality used to visualize the thyroid and thyroid-related disease. An adequate ultrasound report can significantly influence clinicians in making management decisions in these patients.

**Aim**: The aim of this study was to critically assess the quality of thyroid ultrasound reports generated at Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital (CMJAH), a training hospital in Johannesburg, South Africa.

**Method**: A retrospective cross-sectional study was performed. The quality of thyroid ultrasound reports was determined by using a data collection sheet that included items that should be contained in a thyroid ultrasound report. The contents of the data collection sheet was guided by current literature (including Thyroid Imaging Reporting and Data System (TIRADS); Thyroid, Head and Neck Cancer Foundation (THANC); American Thyroid Association guidelines (ATA), British Thyroid Association guidelines (BTA) and the Society for Endocrine, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa (SEMDSA)). The data collection sheet was designed by the principal investigator and supervisors. The quality of reports of training radiologists, sonographers as well as qualified radiologists were documented. Comparisons of the quality of reports was made between the above groups of reporters. **Results**: A retrospective analysis of thyroid ultrasound reports done at CMJAH revealed that the reports are of poor quality and little value to the referring clinician. The quality of the reports was poor regardless of the training level or experience of the reporter.

**Conclusion**: Due to the poor quality of the reports, a standard thyroid ultrasound reporting template has since been introduced at CMJAH.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My supervisor Dr Tebogo L. Hlabangana, Chief Specialist and HOD of Department of Diagnostic Radiology at Chris Hani Baragwanath Academic Hospital (CHBAH) for her support, assistance and motivation.

My co-supervisor Dr Claire E. Mitchell, General Surgery Consultant at Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital (CMJAH) for her encouragement, support and enthusiasm.

Dr Petra Gaylard, Statistician in the Faculty of Health Sciences at the University of the Witwatersrand for her assistance with my statistical analysis.

Professor Victor Mngomezulu, Academic Head of the Radiology Department at the University of the Witwatersrand for providing research facilities.

The research coordinators team (Dr Sue Lucas, Noleen Gordon and Dr Tanya Pillay) for hosting a protocol development workshop.

The Chief Executive officer of the CMJAH for allowing the study to take place at the hospital.

The filing clerk in the sonography department for assisting with the retrieving of the sonar reports in the sonography filing room.

vii

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DEC	LARA	TIONii			
DED	DEDICATIONiii				
PUB	BLICA	TIONS AND PRESENTATIONSiv			
ABS	TRAC	۲۷			
АСК	NOW	/LEDGEMENTSvii			
LIST	OF F	IGURESx			
LIST	OF A	xPPENDICESxi			
LIST	OF A	ABBREVIATIONSxii			
1	INTF	RODUCTION1			
1.	.1	Motivation for this study1			
	1.1.1	1 Background1			
	1.1.2	2 Ultrasound of the normal thyroid gland 2			
	1.1.3	3 Thyroid nodules			
	1.1.4	4 Cervical lymphadenopathy8			
	1.1.5	5 Structured reporting			
1.	.2	Aim and Objectives9			
	1.2.2	1 Aim9			
	1.2.2	2 Study Objectives			
2	MA	TERIALS AND METHODS11			
2.	.1	Study design			
2.	.2	Study setting			

	2.3 Sample			
	2.4	Inclusion criteria 14		
	2.5	Exclusion criteria 15		
	2.6	Limitations15		
	2.7	Methods of analysis15		
	2.8	Ethics		
3	RES	ULTS17		
	3.1	Data Collected 17		
	3.1.3	1 Demographics17		
	3.2	Reporting of features found in general TUS19		
	3.3	Reporting of features found in TUS with nodules (n=220)		
	3.4	Differences in the quality of reports between the different groups in the study		
21				
	3.4.2	1 Reporting of features found in general TUS 21		
	3.4.2	2 Reporting of features found in TUS with nodules (n=220):		
4	DISC	CUSSION OF RESULTS27		
	4.1	Limitations of the current study		
	4.2	Recommendations from the study		
5	CON	ICLUSION		
R	EFEREN	CES		

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Age distribution of the study population	17
Figure 2:	TUS reporting groups in the study	18
Figure 3:	Reported frequency of the general thyroid features	19
Figure 4:	Specific features of thyroid nodules as reported on	21
Figure 5:	Reporter group differences with reporting of each feature per reporter type	22
Figure 6:	Reporter differences with regards to nodule description	<u>2</u> 4

# LIST OF APPENDICES

HREC Clearance Certificate	.39
Protocol review committee letter of permission	40
Standard Thyroid Ultrasound Reporting Template	.42
	HREC Clearance Certificate Protocol review committee letter of permission Standard Thyroid Ultrasound Reporting Template

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AP:	Anterior-Posterior
ATA:	American Thyroid Association
BIRADS:	Breast Imaging Reporting Data System
BTA:	British Thyroid Association
CMJAH:	Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital
CT:	Computed Tomography
FNAB:	Fine Needle Aspiration Biopsy
MEN:	Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia
MRI:	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
RSSA:	Radiological Society of South Africa
SAS:	Statistical Analysis Software
SASPI:	South African Society of Paediatric Imaging
SEMDSA:	Society for Endocrine, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa
THANC:	Thyroid, Head and Neck Cancer Foundation.
TIRADS:	Thyroid Imaging Reporting and Data Systems
TUS:	Thyroid Ultrasound

#### **1** INTRODUCTION

#### **1.1** Motivation for this study

Thyroid ultrasounds (TUS) are performed on a daily basis, yet we receive numerous requests for repeating said ultrasounds. This is largely due to the fact that the referring doctors' clinical question was not adequately answered.

#### 1.1.1 Background

Thyroid imaging is an indispensable part of the diagnostic work-up of patients with a palpable neck mass, Graves' disease, patients with abnormal thyroid function (especially hypothyroid) and patients with hoarseness(1).

Ultrasound is the conventional and best imaging modality used to visualize the thyroid and thyroid-related disease(2-5). It provides superior spatial resolution to MRI, CT scan and thyroid scintigraphy. It is safe (no radiation or radioisotopes involved) and cost effective(2). It has high sensitivity for thyroid nodules, but low specificity for malignancy(6).

An adequate ultrasound report may determine whether the patient should be managed by a physician or surgeon.

Academic hospitals such as Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital (CMJAH) and Chris Hani Baragwanath Academic Hospital (CHBAH), make use of training radiology registrars to perform ultrasounds. There are qualified sonographers available for assistance, however due to the workload, lack of resources and staff shortages, many of the ultrasounds are done unsupervised. The ultrasound examination is an operator-dependent procedure. Being able to view organs correctly entails that one has a thorough understanding of radiological anatomy and physics behind the generation of ultrasound images.

Being able to interpret the pathology visualised, form a differential diagnosis and suggest appropriate management, requires even more expertise and is largely dependent on the operator's knowledge regarding thyroid disease.

#### **1.1.2** Ultrasound of the normal thyroid gland

The thyroid gland is hyper-echoic compared to adjacent strap and sternocleidomastoid muscles, as a result of its iodine content. The internal architectural appearance is homogenous and ground-glass. The average size of the thyroid lobes are 3-4cm in the longitudinal, 1-1.5cm in the transverse and 1cm in the anterior-posterior (AP) diameter(6). The thyroid isthmus is situated anterior to the trachea, which is devoid of signal, and the cartilaginous rings produce crescent shaped hyperechoic signal.

There are multiple anechoic foci on the surface and inside the gland, which exhibit flow on color Doppler, characteristic of blood vessels(6). Parathyroid glands are minute (+/- 3mm) and are usually only visualized in pathological circumstances. Hypo-echoic foci in the upper and lower poles of the gland are therefore parathyroid adenomas until proven otherwise(7, 8).

Other important regional structures include the central and lateral lymph node compartments and the neck vessels, namely the bilateral common carotid arteries and the more lateral internal jugular veins (8).

## 1.1.3 Thyroid nodules

A thyroid nodule is defined as a focal lesion distinct from the normal thyroid parenchyma(8, 9).

Thyroid nodules can be found in up to 67% of the population (3); of these nodules,

7-15% represent malignancy (9).

The prevalence of thyroid nodules is increased with female gender, the postmenopausal age group, iodine-deficiency and patients with a family history of thyroid nodules(2).

Risk factors for malignancy include:

- Age < 20 or >60
- Solid nodule on palpation
- Rapid nodule growth
- Vocal cord compromise
- Cervical lymphadenopathy
- Previous radiation therapy to the neck
- Family history of thyroid malignancy (8).

To maximally utilize ultrasound in the diagnosis of thyroid malignancies, it is advantageous to use a standardized ultrasound report format (10, 11).

According to the Thyroid, Head and Neck Cancer Foundation (THANC), a standard ultrasound report should comprise of the following:

 Size of the left and right lobe in three dimensions. If the gland is enlarged, the report must indicate whether the gland extends into the mediastinum, and if pressure effects are noted on the trachea and neck vessels.

- AP diameter of the isthmus
- Description of the echogenicity of the overall thyroid gland. Inhomogeneous echotexture could be suggestive of multinodular goiter or thyroiditis (12).
- Vascularity of the thyroid gland. Diffuse increase in vascularity of the gland could be suggestive of thyroiditis (12).
- Comments on the presence of a pyramidal lobe
- Visualization of any thyroid nodules
- Any extra nodular calcifications
- Any abnormal / variant anatomy
- Presence of any associated pathological lymphadenopathy

The THANC foundation also has guidelines regarding the description of thyroid nodules:

- Number of nodules noted, size and site within the thyroid gland
- Description of the margin of the nodule/s (circumscribed, irregular or obscured).
- Presence of extra-thyroid extension
- Composition of the nodule/s (cystic, solid, mixed, spongiform or complex)
- Nodule echogenicity
- Intra-nodular calcifications (coarse or microcalcifications).
- Nodule vascularity (scarce, predominantly peripheral, predominantly central).

In addition to these descriptive factors, multiple sources, including the ATA suggest description of the shape/ morphology of the nodule.

Multiple studies have been done to identify ultrasound features that could predict the possibility of a nodule being malignant, including the study which lead to the development of the Thyroid Imaging Reporting and Data System (TIRADS)(13, 14).

It is important to note, that no single ultrasound feature should be regarded in isolation as a predictor of malignancy, rather, a cumulative number of suspicious features will increase the likelihood of malignancy (10, 15).

Some authors suggest that two or more suspicious features warrant a fine needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) (16), whereas others suggest that risk should be individualized per patient.

The American Thyroid Association (ATA) additionally suggest that any nodule together with abnormal cervical lymphadenopathy, requires an FNAB (17).

There is a general consensus in the literature that suggest that the following nodule features are considered suspicious:

- Solid consistency
- Hypoechoic echogenicity (when compared to surrounding normal thyroid tissue).
- Microcalcifications
- Nodule shape taller than wide
- Irregular border

The 2015 revised ATA guidelines suggested that the three most reliable predictors malignancy is microcalcifications, irregular margin and shape taller than wide(18).

Great controversy remains whether increased intra-nodal vascularity should be considered as a predictor of malignancy, and in some studies Doppler ultrasound have been shown to be of no added value to grey scale ultrasound(18, 19). The most recent ATA guidelines have removed the previously suggested intra-nodal vascularity as a predictor of malignancy. On the other hand, the BTA and multiple other institutions still consider intra-nodal vascularity as a suspicious factor(20).

The following features are greatly considered as indicative of benignity across the board(3, 8, 18):

- Purely cystic lesion.
- Colloid cysts / colloid degeneration with characteristic comet tail/ring down artifact.
- Multiple (>50% of nodule volume) microcystic changes (Spongiform nodule).
- Hypoechoic rim/halo surrounding the nodule.

Hyperechogenicity itself is not a benign feature, even though the majority of malignant nodules are hypoechoic, because profoundly hyperechoic nodules could represent follicular thyroid cancer(8).

With regards to indications for FNAB, the appropriate nodule size has caused much debate. In general, nodules are either referred to as sub-centimeter or size significant (>1cm). Whether a sub-centimeter nodule with suspicious features

qualify for FNAB remains controversial and the ATA suggests that only size significant suspicious nodules should undergo FNAB(18).

The British Thyroid association (BTA) recommends that nodules be grouped, according to their ultrasound appearance, into either benign, Indeterminate, Suspicious or Malignant(20); this compared to the ATA who characterize their nodules as benign, very low suspicion, low suspicion, intermediate suspicion and high risk for malignancy. Regardless of which classification system used, it remains important to stress the risk of malignancy in visualized nodules.

The BTA features of the different groups are listed below:

#### Benign features:

- i. Halo Present. Increased echogenicity or isoechoic.
- ii. Cystic changes.
- iii. Spongiform or micro-cystic.
- iv. Peripheral (uninterrupted) calcification.
- v. Peripheral vascularity.

#### Indeterminate features:

- i. Homogenous. Isoechoic or Increased echogenicity. Solid.
- ii. Cystic change.
- iii. Central vascularity or mixed vascularity (Controversial).

#### Suspicious features:

i. Solid. Decreased echogenicity compared to surrounding tissue

- ii. Solid. Markedly hypoechoic (defined as hypoechoic compared to strap muscles)
- iii. Interrupted peripheral calcification. Decreased echogenicity
- iv. Multi-lobar / irregular outline

#### Malignant:

- i. Solid. Decreased echogenicity. Irregular outline. Micro-calcification
- ii. Solid. Decreased echogenicity. Irregular outline. Coarse calcification
- iii. Intra-nodular vascularity (Controversial)
- iv. Nodule taller than width in transverse plane.
- v. Associated lymphadenopathy

## 1.1.4 Cervical lymphadenopathy

Lymph node metastasis from thyroid cancer is usually associated with papillary thyroid cancer. Nodal spread is present in up to 50% of patients with papillary thyroid cancer, at index presentation(8).

Pathological cervical lymphadenopathy is defined as, short axis >8mm; microcalcifications, cystic component, peripheral vascularity, round shape and hyperechogenicity(18, 21). The sensitivity for detecting lymph node metastasis using ultrasound is low(22), but when noted, assist in surgical planning with regards to lymph node dissection.

#### 1.1.5 Structured reporting

Multiple attempts have been made to develop a structured reporting system for thyroid ultrasounds, the most well know system is the TIRADS. The TIRADS is similar to the well-known Breast Imaging Reporting Data System (BIRADS). TIRADS 1 refers to a normal thyroid gland. TIRADS2 refers to a benign lesion/nodule (0% malignancy risk), TIRADS3 (<5% malignancy risk), TIRADS 4 (5-80% malignancy risk) and TIRADS 5 (>80% malignancy risk)(14). The TIRADS is not well adhered to as some found it difficult to apply(23). Changes to the TIRADS has been proposed, including the French TIRADS and electronic synoptic reporting. Given the above-mentioned controversy with regards to which nodule features are suspicious, a universal structured reporting system remains a challenge.

## 1.2 Aim and Objectives

## 1.2.1 Aim

This study aimed to determine the quality of thyroid ultrasound done at a training hospital.

#### 1.2.2 Study Objectives

- 1.2.2.1 To collect and analyse the thyroid ultrasound reports.
- 1.2.2.2 To compare these reports to a reporting template (data collection sheet) generated by the principle investigator and supervisors, the formulation of

this sheet was guided by international standards (as outlined by the ATA, BTA, THANC, TIRADS and SEMDSA).

#### 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 Study design

A retrospective cross-sectional study was performed. The quality of thyroid ultrasound reports was determined using a data collection sheet. The data collection sheet required "yes" or "no" responses to each of the variables/questions listed on it. Questions referred to the contents of the report; if the answer was "yes" ( i.e. reported), it was a positive outcome and increased the quality of the report. If the response was "no" ( i.e. not reported) this resulted in a report that was lacking in important information. No video clips of the ultrasound images were used as these are not available. At the time of the study there was no efficient picture archiving system (PACS) at CMJAH. It is clear from the reports that not all the nodules were reported on, for example, a report would read, "There are multiple bilateral thyroid nodules, the biggest of which measures..., and is situated..., is hypoechoic...etc." It was noted that multiple reports only reported on the largest nodule, although it is clear from the report that there were multiple nodules. This has raised concerns as the largest nodule is not necessarily the most suspicious nodule.

The questions asked/included in the data collection sheet are listed below:

- Was the left lobe measured in all three dimensions?
- Was the right lobe measured in all three dimensions?
- Was the isthmus measured in AP diameter?
- Was there mention/comment of the echogenicity of the gland?
- Was there mention/comment with regards to vascularity of the gland?
- Was visualisation (or lack thereof) of the parathyroid glands mentioned?

- Was the position of the trachea mentioned/commented on?
- Was the adjacent neck vessels mentioned/commented on?

Where nodules were visualised, additional questions were asked:

- Were all nodules described? (as opposed to just the largest/ most suspicious one)
- Was the size of the nodules measured?
- Was the specific site within the gland mentioned? (upper pole of left lobe, instead of just left lobe).
- Was the shape of the nodule mentioned?
- Was the echogenicity of the nodule mentioned?
- Was there mention of calcification within the nodule?
- Was there mention of a halo?
- Were the margins of the nodule mentioned?
- Was the vascularity of the nodule mentioned?
- Was the consistency of the nodule mentioned?
- Was the nodule classified as benign, indeterminate, suspicious or malignant?
- Was there mention of the need for FNAB?

# 2.2 Study setting

The study was performed at CMJAH where thyroid ultrasounds are routinely performed on the following machines: Two Toshiba Xairo XG machines, one Toshiba Xario 200, one Toshiba Nemio XG and one Siemens Acuson X300. The frequency of the linear probes used range between 7,5 - 13 MHz. When using the Thyroid setting on the ultrasound machines, the linear probe becomes active and the frequency increases, in order to achieve better spatial resolution.

Data was collected by retrieving thyroid ultrasound reports from the ultrasound record database files at CMJAH.

All the reports were reviewed by myself (a third-year radiology registrar), and were checked by my supervisors. The data collection sheet was developed by the principle investigator and supervisors based on a conglomeration of sources, including the ATA, BTA, THANC, TIRADS and SEMDSA guidelines for thyroid ultrasound reporting(10).

A comparison was made between the quality of reports done by radiology registrars, sonographers and qualified radiologists.

Important reporting parameters not adhered to were charted on to a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. The spreadsheet represents the general shortcomings of thyroid ultrasound reporting.

Consequently, a standard thyroid ultrasound reporting template was drafted and introduced at CMJAH.

#### 2.3 Sample

The study sample included adult patients who presented to the ultrasound department at CMJAH for elective thyroid ultrasounds during the time period 1 Jan 2013 – 31 May 2015. An adult in this study is defined as an individual who is over the age of 18 years.

On average CMJAH perform 3 thyroid ultrasounds per week. It is important that the data be statistically significant. Since the main aim of the project was the descriptive reporting of percentages, a sample size estimation was based on the reporting of a 50% proportion (worst-case) with 5% precision, at the 95% confidence level. This requires a sample size of 384 to be statistically significant.

Sample size for proportions was determined using the formula:

$$n = \frac{Z^2 P(1-P)}{d^2}$$

Where:

n = sample size,

Z = Z-statistic for the chosen level of confidence,

P = expected prevalence or proportion

$$d = precision(24).$$

The actual sample size of 287 is slightly smaller than the calculated sample size. The obtainable precision for a proportion of 50%, with a confidence interval of 95%, was thus increased to 5.8%. The increase in precision is due to the smaller sample size. This is without consequence, as the study sample was too small for the results to be statistically significant.

# 2.4 Inclusion criteria

Thyroid ultrasound reports of patients over the age of 18 years.

#### 2.5 Exclusion criteria

2.5.1 Illegible reports. The aim of the study was to determine whether the contents of the report could compete with international standards. Illegible reports could not be analysed and were therefore excluded.

2.5.2 Emergency thyroid ultrasound requests. This was due to the fact that thyroid ultrasound rarely constitutes an emergency. Also, the poor resolution of the after-hours ultrasound machine, might have had a negative impact on the results.

# 2.6 Limitations

Due to the lack of resources the ultrasound reports that were reviewed were handwritten and not stored on a backed-up computer.

True to the stigma, some doctors' handwriting was illegible and such reports were excluded from the data collection.

We analysed reports from 1January 2013 – 31 June 2015, instead of only 12 months as initially planned in an attempt to collect an adequate number of patients for the study. This excluded data from the months of May 2013 and September 2014, as no data from these 2 months were found in the department archives.

Unfortunately, the number of reports obtained during the period of the study was 287, not 384, and therefore the results are deemed not statistically significant. However useful and important information was still obtained from the study.

#### 2.7 Methods of analysis

Descriptive analysis of the data was carried out as follows: Categorical variables were summarised by frequency and percentage tabulation, and illustrated by means of bar charts. Continuous variables were summarised by the mean, standard deviation, median and interquartile range, and their distribution illustrated by means of histograms.

The chi-square test was used to assess the relationship between reporter group and categorical variables. Fisher's exact test was used where the assumptions of the chi-square test were not met. The strength of the associations was measured the phi coefficient (Fisher's exact test) and Cramer's V (chi-square test). The following scale of interpretation was used:

0.50 and above	high/strong association
0.30 to 0.49	moderate association
0.10 to 0.29	weak association
below 0.10	little if any association

The relationship between reporter group and age was assessed by the unpaired t-test.

Data analysis was carried out using SAS. The 5% significance level was used throughout. In other words, p-values <0.05 indicate significant results.

#### 2.8 Ethics

Ethics clearance was granted by The Human Research Ethics Committee at the University of Witwatersrand on 3 July 2015. The Ethics Clearance number is M150617 (see Appendix A).

# **3 RESULTS**

A total of 287 thyroid ultrasound (TUS) reports done at CMJAH from Jan 2013 – May 2015 were analysed (excluding May 2013 and September 2014).

# 3.1 Data Collected

## 3.1.1 Demographics

#### 3.1.1.1 Age

The average age of the patients in the study group was 50.5 years (SD=15.3 years;





Figure 1: Age distribution of the study population

#### 3.1.1.2 Gender

The study population was predominantly female (83.6%).

#### 3.1.1.3 Reporter Group

The distribution of reporter groups is shown in Figure 2.

The qualified sonographers are permanent staff of the ultrasound department and therefore accounted for 31% of the TUS reports. The registrars do a basic/beginners ultrasound block in their first year and a specialised/advanced ultrasound block during their second year, therefore the 2<sup>nd</sup> year registrars were responsible for 38.6% of the reports. The other registrars, student sonographers and radiologists were responsible for producing the rest of the reports.





For the between group analysis, the following groupings were used:

- All registrars were grouped together (n=137; 48 % of TUS)
- Radiologists (n=38; 13% of TUS)
- Qualified sonographers (n=89; 31% of TUS)
- Student sonographers (n=23; 8% of TUS)

# 3.2 Reporting of features found in general TUS

Figure 3 shows the percentage of TUS's with reporting of each feature. Only lymph nodes and the echogenicity of the thyroid gland were reported on in more than 50% of cases. All other aspects were reported on in less than 40% of cases.



*Figure 3: Reported frequency of the general thyroid features* 

In the above graph, vessels refer to the common carotid arteries and internal jugular veins found lateral to the thyroid gland. It is important to mention any visualised pathology, for example a carotid body tumour, which could be associated with thyroid malignancy in the setting of Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 (MEN2). (25)

#### **3.3** Reporting of features found in TUS with nodules (n=220)

It is important to further characterise the imaging features of a thyroid nodule when one is identified on a TUS. Thyroid nodules were visualised in 76.7% (n=220/287) of the TUS. Figure 4 below highlights the percentage of eligible TUS's with reporting of each feature listed on the data collection sheet. Only size of individual nodules, echogenicity of the nodules, nodule consistency, intra-nodular vascularity, and description of all nodules, were reported on in more than 60% of cases. All other aspects were reported on in less than 50% of cases (most less than 30% of cases).

20



Figure 4: Specific features of thyroid nodules as reported on

# 3.4 Differences in the quality of reports between the different groups in the study

# 3.4.1 Reporting of features found in general TUS

There were no significant difference in reporting between the different groups with regards to:

- Vascularity of thyroid gland
- Parathyroid glands mentioned
- Mention of tracheal gland involvement

For all other features, there were significant differences; with no clear pattern in the nature of the differences. The above findings are represented in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Reporter group differences with reporting of each feature per reporter type

## The between-group reporting differences may be described as follows:

Lymph nodes:

Lymph nodes were reported on more frequently by the qualified sonographers who reported on the presence or absence of lymph nodes 84% of the time. This compared to the qualified radiologists who only reported on this feature in *53%* of their reports.

Echogenicity:

The frequency of the description of the echogenicity of nodules was reported on in the following order: student sonographer (96%)> qualified sonographer (61%) > (61%) > radiologist (18%).

Measurement of L/R thyroid lobe in 3 dimensions:

Proportion of reporting decreases in the order: student sonographer (70%) > radiologist (61%) > registrar (32%) > qualified sonographer (30%).

Isthmus measurement:

This feature was reported on by less than 40% of individuals in all 4 groups. Only 3% of the qualified radiologists reported on this feature.

Neck Vessels:

The common carotid arteries and internal jugular veins were neglected in the majority of the reports. The registrars mentioned these vessels in 35% of their reports; student sonographers 17%, radiologists 8% and student sonographers 2%.

• Calcification within the gland:

The presence or absence of extra-nodal calcifications within the gland was reported on more frequently by the qualified sonographers. However comparison of the frequency of comments on this feature was poor across the board (qualified sonographer (16%) > registrar (13%) > radiologist (3%) > student sonographer (0%).

# 3.4.2 Reporting of features found in TUS with nodules (n=220):

There were no significant inter-reporter group differences for

All nodules described

- Site of nodules
- Shape of nodule in transverse plane
- Halo
- Margin

No reporting group consistently reported on the above findings, therefore no group was better in this regard. For all other features, there were significant reporting differences; but again, no clear pattern was found in the nature of the differences. These findings are reflected in Figure 6.





The between-group differences may be described as follows:

• Size of individual nodules:

The student sonographers consistently and uniformly measured the size of individual nodules in all of their reports (100%), compared to the qualified sonographers who measured nodules 78% of the time, registrars 76% and radiologists only 64%.

Nodule Echogenicity:

Significantly lower proportion of reporting by radiologists (only 32%) than the other three groups, whom all mentioned nodule echogenicity in more than 70% of their reports.

Nodule consistency:

Mention of the cystic or solid nature of nodules were reported on more frequently by the qualified sonographers, who mentioned nodule consistency in 81% of the cases. Radiologists only mentioned consistency in 43% of their reports.

Intra-nodular vascularity:

The vascularity of the nodules were mostly reported on by qualified sonographers in 81% of the cases. The registrars and student sonographers mentioned vascularity in 62% and 63% of their reports, respectively. The radiologists only reported on nodal vascularity in 46% of cases.

Intra-nodular calcification:

The registrars did the best job at mentioning intra-nodal calcifications, however they only mentioned the presence or absence of intra-nodal calcification in 52% of reports. The radiologists on the other hand did the worst job, by only reporting on this feature 7% of the time.

Classification of the nodules with regards to malignant potential:

Higher proportion of reporting by registrars (41%), radiologists (25%), and qualified sonographers (22%) compared to student sonographers (5%).

Mentioning the need for FNA:

Higher proportion of inclusion in reports by registrars (45%) than the other three groups. (student sonographer 16%, radiologist 14% and qualified sonographer 13%)

#### 4 DISCUSSION OF RESULTS

A total of 287 Thyroid ultrasound reports were analysed. The average patient who had a TUS in our study was a middle aged female (50.5 years), in keeping with research with regards to prevalence and incidence of thyroid disease (26).

The reporters were mostly qualified sonographers and 2<sup>nd</sup> year radiology registrars, but also included student sonographers and radiologists.

The results showed that important thyroid ultrasound parameters were not regularly or adequately reported on, as summarised below.

With regards to general thyroid ultrasound, the only two parameters reported on in more than half the reports analysed, were lymph nodes in 70% of reports, and echogenicity of the thyroid gland in 57% of the reports. All the other important parameters were neglected, and not frequently reported.

#### Adequate measurement of the thyroid gland was only mentioned in 38% of reports:

Correct measurement of the gland is essential, because an enlarged gland should prompt thorough investigation of possible nodules or other pathology such as thyroiditis.

#### Vascularity of the thyroid gland, only reported on in 27% of reports:

Generalized increased vascularity could be secondary to thyroiditis, highlighting the importance of mentioning this factor in reports.

#### Neck vessels, only mentioned in 19,9 % of reports:

The neck vessels can be laterally displaced by an enlarged thyroid gland or thyroid nodule. An incidental carotid body tumour should alert to possibility of MEN2, which is associated with thyroid cancer(25). Noting overt atherosclerotic plaque in the adjacent common carotid arteries and suggesting carotid Doppler investigation with subsequent appropriate referral could be lifesaving.

#### Calcification within thyroid gland only reported on in 11,5% of cases:

Calcification within the thyroid gland could represent benign or malignant disease. It is important to comment on this within a report as up to 59% of thyroid calcification is associated with malignancy, the remainder is associated with multinodular goitre(27).

#### Trachea mentioned in 9% of reports:

The trachea is an important landmark when assessing normal thyroid anatomy and displacement of the trachea should alert to possible thyroid pathology.

#### Parathyroid glands mentioned in only 2,4% of the reports:

Normal parathyroid glands are not visualised on ultrasound and this is likely the reason for the poor reporting thereof. When a parathyroid gland is visualised, this usually indicates pathology such as parathyroid adenoma.

With regards to thyroid nodules, approximately half of the important parameters were reported on in more than 50 % of cases, whereas half of the important parameters were neglected, as summarized below:

#### Size of the individual nodules given in 77% of reports:

Whether a nodule is sub-centimetre or size significant, could alter the decision to perform FNAB.

## Nodule echogenicity reported in 70%:

Up to 55% of benign nodules are hypoechoic, however the vast majority of malignant nodules are hypoechoic and therefore it is important to mention echogenicity(18).

# Nodule consistency mentioned in 67%:

Malignant nodules are predominantly solid, and purely cystic nodules is considered benign.

# All nodules (as opposed to biggest nodule) described in 61%:

When multiple nodules are noted within the gland, each nodule has the same risk of malignancy. It is important to describe nodules individually with regards to suspicious features and not just size, as the biggest nodule might be benign and a smaller (however still size significant) nodule could have suspicious features prompting FNAB.

## Intra-nodal vascularity in 66%:

Though intra-nodal vascularity remains a controversial topic, it needs to be mentioned.

# Margin of the nodule mentioned in 17%:

Together with microcalcifications and 'tall shape', irregular margins are one of the top three suspicious ultrasound features as outlined in the revised 2015 ATA guidelines(18).

#### Calcification within nodules only reported in 42%:

Microcalcifications is one of the features with the highest specificity for thyroid cancer (18).

#### Shape in transverse diameter not reported on in any of the reports reviewed:

As much as there is some controversy about certain ultrasound features and whether they are suspicious for malignancy, it is widely agreed upon, that a nodule that has an AP diameter bigger than transverse diameter (taller than wide on transverse view), is a suspicious feature (8, 9, 12, 15, 17, 18, 28, 29).

#### Site of the nodule within the gland only mentioned in 21,8%:

The site of the individual nodules is extremely important as the patient may have multiple nodules, and the interventionist doing the FNAB needs to know where the most suspicious nodule is, which requires FNAB, to avoid unnecessary FNAB of another nodule. Also, nodules situated posteriorly might decrease the accuracy of FNAB(18), and elastography (30).

#### Halo (hypoechoic rim) mentioned in 3,6%.

The presence of a halo/hypoechoic rim is highly suggestive of benignity (3).

The nodules visualised were only classified in 29,5% of the cases and the need for FNAB was only mentioned in 27,7% of reports. It is important to remember that the person

reading the report is not a sonographer or a radiologist, and merely describing a nodule does not tell the clinician whether to be worried or not, however if the radiologist or sonographer can classify a nodule as either benign, indeterminate, suspicious or malignant. This is beneficial to the clinician who will have better understanding of the report and can be guided on further patient management such as whether or not to perform FNAB.

The size of reporting difference between the groups (effect sizes) were weak, except those for echogenicity, calcification, and the need for FNA, which were moderate.

One would expect the qualified sonographers and radiologists to have comprehensive, high quality reports, and the training registrars and student sonographers to have inferior reports. This was not the case.

In the literature some studies have found that people in training, such as training radiologists and student sonographers are more thorough in their reports as they are still learning, compared to the more qualified individuals who were less thorough(31).

On the other end of the spectrum, studies have shown that training radiologists make significant errors in doing and reporting ultrasounds without adequate supervision(32).

However, as mentioned above, in this study, there was no specific pattern to the between group reporting differences. The differences were completely arbitrary. There is no explanation as to why for example the presence of calcifications is reported more by qualified sonographers, but these same sonographers hardly ever mentioned the neck vessels; as well as why registrars mention lymph nodes, but do not mention calcification within the nodules. There are cases in the literature that support these findings, that showed no difference in reporting, on the basis of type of training, years in practice, or number of examinations done(33).

There was no clear pattern with regards to the between reporter group differences of general TUS or ultrasounds with thyroid nodules. No reporter group were better at reporting thyroid ultrasounds than others.

From the above findings a reporting template was designed by the investigator and her supervisors to assist with the reporting of TUS (see appendix C) to ensure more thorough and standardised reporting.

#### 4.1 Limitations of the current study

The sample size was smaller than anticipated, and therefore the results are not statistically significant.

The reporting registrars were mostly in their 2<sup>nd</sup> year, because the 2<sup>nd</sup> year registrars do a senior ultrasound block, and therefore the registrar body as a group is not represented. Also, there is a permanent qualified radiologist working at the sonar department of CMJAH and therefore that radiologist was responsible for most of the ultrasounds in the Radiologist group, and all the radiologists working at CMJAH were not represented in that group.

Comparing of the study variables between the three reporters assumed that each group was exposed to the same variety of thyroid conditions, which is not always the case.

#### 4.2 Recommendations from the study

Review of the quality of ultrasound reports at several centres, assessing and comparing reports from sonographers, radiology registrars and consultants and comparing the quality of reports against the experience of the individuals within each group.

There has been 2 ultrasound workshops in the radiology department at since the period of the study. Comparison of reports before and after these courses to assess whether there has been an improvement in the quality of reports would be insightful.

A retrospective analysis of thyroid ultrasound reports after the implementation of the reporting template at CMJAH and other centres could be performed to assess the value and impact of the template.

#### **5** CONCLUSION

Thyroid disease is very common, and said to affect 750 million people across the globe. The incidence of thyroid cancer is increasing, likely due to a combination of early detection, as well as unknown thyroid specific carcinogens (34). Approximately 300 000 people are diagnosed with thyroid cancer annually (26).

Thyroid ultrasound is the imaging modality of choice to evaluate thyroid disease and screen for suspicious nodules which might represent early thyroid cancer (9). It is of utmost importance that thyroid ultrasound reports are of a high standard to diagnose thyroid disease and especially thyroid cancer early. The importance of structured thyroid ultrasound reporting has been widely published (10, 14, 23, 35), however consensus with regards to the structure and classification is still under review.

Our retrospective analysis of 287 thyroid ultrasound reports performed at a training hospital revealed that the reports are of poor quality and little value to the referring clinician. The standard of reporting was inadequate, regardless of the level of training or experience of the reporter.

A standard thyroid ultrasound reporting template has since been introduced at CMJAH.

(*Appendix C*). This template provides an easily adaptable approach to thyroid ultrasound. A PACS system was introduced at CMJAH in April 2016 and the thyroid template was loaded on the system, this has ensured adherence to the template and an improvement in the quality of reports generated.

# REFERENCES

1. Varadhan L, Varughese GI, Sankaranarayanan S. Hyperthyroidism and Graves' disease: Is an ultrasound examination needed? Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2016;20(6):866-9.

2. Quianzon CC, Schroeder PR. Initial evaluation of thyroid nodules by primary care physicians and internal medicine residents. J Community Hosp Intern Med Perspect. 2015;5(2):27192.

3. Franco Uliaque C, Pardo Berdún FJ, Laborda Herrero R, Pérez Lórenz C. Usefulness of ultrasonography is the evaluation of thyroid nodules. Radiología (English Edition). 2016;58(5):380-8.

4. Priedītis P, Radziņa M, Štrumfa I, Narbuts Z, Ozoliņs A, Vanags A, et al. Diagnostic Value of Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound Evaluation of Malignant and Benign Solitary Thyroid Nodules. Proceedings of the Latvian Academy of Sciences Section B Natural, Exact, and Applied Sciences. 2016;70(1):1-6.

5. Unsal O, Akpinar M, Turk B, Ucak I, Ozel A, Kayaoglu S, et al. Sonographic scoring of solid thyroid nodules: effects of nodule size and suspicious cervical lymph node. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol. 2016.

6. Blum M. Ultrasonography of the Thyroid. In: De Groot LJ, Beck-Peccoz P, Chrousos G, Dungan K, Grossman A, Hershman JM, et al., editors. Endotext. South Dartmouth MA: MDText.com, Inc.; 2000.

7. Costache A, Dumitru M, Anghel I, Cergan R, Anghel AG, Sarafoleanu C. Ultrasonographic anatomy of head and neck--a pictorial for the ENT specialist. Med Ultrason. 2015;17(1):104-8.

8. Xie C, Cox P, Taylor N, LaPorte S. Ultrasonography of thyroid nodules: a pictorial review. Insights Imaging. 2016;7(1):77-86.

9. Paschou SA, Vryonidou A, Goulis DG. Thyroid nodules: A guide to assessment, treatment and follow-up. Maturitas. 2017;96:1-9.

10. Su HK, Dos Reis LL, Lupo MA, Milas M, Orloff LA, Langer JE, et al. Striving toward standardization of reporting of ultrasound features of thyroid nodules and lymph nodes: a multidisciplinary consensus statement. Thyroid. 2014;24(9):1341-9.

11. Kwak JY, Jung I, Baek JH, Baek SM, Choi N, Choi YJ, et al. Image reporting and characterization system for ultrasound features of thyroid nodules: multicentric Korean retrospective study. Korean J Radiol. 2013;14(1):110-7.

12. Nachiappan AC, Metwalli ZA, Hailey BS, Patel RA, Ostrowski ML, Wynne DM. The thyroid: review of imaging features and biopsy techniques with radiologic-pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 2014;34(2):276-93.

13. Park JY, Lee HJ, Jang HW, Kim HK, Yi JH, Lee W, et al. A proposal for a thyroid imaging reporting and data system for ultrasound features of thyroid carcinoma. Thyroid. 2009;19(11):1257-64.

14. Horvath E, Majlis S, Rossi R, Franco C, Niedmann JP, Castro A, et al. An ultrasonogram reporting system for thyroid nodules stratifying cancer risk for clinical management. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94(5):1748-51.

15. Russ G, Leboulleux S, Leenhardt L, Hegedus L. Thyroid incidentalomas: epidemiology, risk stratification with ultrasound and workup. Eur Thyroid J. 2014;3(3):154-63.

16. Elsayed NM, Elkhatib YA. Diagnostic Criteria and Accuracy of Categorizing Malignant Thyroid Nodules by Ultrasonography and Ultrasound Elastography with Pathologic Correlation. Ultrason Imaging. 2016;38(2):148-58.

17. American Thyroid Association Guidelines Taskforce on Thyroid N, Differentiated Thyroid C, Cooper DS, Doherty GM, Haugen BR, Kloos RT, et al. Revised American Thyroid Association management guidelines for patients with thyroid nodules and differentiated thyroid cancer. Thyroid. 2009;19(11):1167-214.

18. Haugen BR, Alexander EK, Bible KC, Doherty GM, Mandel SJ, Nikiforov YE, et al. 2015 American Thyroid Association Management Guidelines for Adult Patients with Thyroid Nodules and Differentiated Thyroid Cancer: The American Thyroid Association Guidelines Task Force on Thyroid Nodules and Differentiated Thyroid Cancer. Thyroid. 2016;26(1):1-133.

19. Rosario PW, Silva AL, Borges MA, Calsolari MR. Is Doppler ultrasound of additional value to gray-scale ultrasound in differentiating malignant and benign thyroid nodules? Archives of endocrinology and metabolism. 2015;59(1):79-83.

20. Perros P, Boelaert K, Colley S, Evans C, Evans RM, Gerrard Ba G, et al. Guidelines for the management of thyroid cancer. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014;81 Suppl 1:1-122.

21. Hoang JK, Lee WK, Lee M, Johnson D, Farrell S. US Features of thyroid malignancy: pearls and pitfalls. Radiographics. 2007;27(3):847-60; discussion 61-5.

22. Kim E, Park JS, Son KR, Kim JH, Jeon SJ, Na DG. Preoperative diagnosis of cervical metastatic lymph nodes in papillary thyroid carcinoma: comparison of ultrasound, computed tomography, and combined ultrasound with computed tomography. Thyroid. 2008;18(4):411-8.

23. Russ G. Risk stratification of thyroid nodules on ultrasonography with the French TI-RADS: description and reflections. Ultrasonography. 2016;35(1):25-38.

24. Daniel W. Biostatistics: A foundation for analysis in the Health Sciences. 9th ed. New York: John Wiley and Sons; 1999.

25. Grajo JR, Paspulati RM, Sahani DV, Kambadakone A. Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Syndromes: A Comprehensive Imaging Review. Radiol Clin North Am. 2016;54(3):441-51.

26. La Vecchia C, Malvezzi M, Bosetti C, Garavello W, Bertuccio P, Levi F, et al. Thyroid cancer mortality and incidence: a global overview. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(9):2187-95.

27. Khoo ML, Asa SL, Witterick IJ, Freeman JL. Thyroid calcification and its association with thyroid carcinoma. Head Neck. 2002;24(7):651-5.

28. Gharib H, Papini E, Paschke R, Duick DS, Valcavi R, Hegedus L, et al. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists, Associazione Medici Endocrinologi, and European Thyroid Association medical guidelines for clinical practice for the diagnosis and management of thyroid nodules: executive summary of recommendations. J Endocrinol Invest. 2010;33(5 Suppl):51-6.

29. Albair Ashamallah G, El-Adalany MA. Risk for malignancy of thyroid nodules: Comparative study between TIRADS and US based classification system. The Egyptian Journal of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine. 2016;47(4):1373-84.

30. Cantisani V, Grazhdani H, Drakonaki E, D'Andrea V, Di Segni M, Kaleshi E, et al. Strain US Elastography for the Characterization of Thyroid Nodules: Advantages and Limitation. Int J Endocrinol. 2015;2015:908575.

31. Govender N, Andronikou S, Goodier MD. Adequacy of paediatric renal tract ultrasound requests and reports in a general radiology department. Pediatr Radiol. 2012;42(2):188-95.

32. Eze KC, Marchie TT, Eze CU. An audit of ultrasonography performed and reported by trainee radiologists. West Afr J Med. 2009;28(4):257-61.

33. Levine D, Asch E, Mehta TS, Broder J, O'Donnell C, Hecht JL. Assessment of factors that affect the quality of performance and interpretation of sonography of adnexal masses. J Ultrasound Med. 2008;27(5):721-8.

34. Vigneri R, Malandrino P, Vigneri P. The changing epidemiology of thyroid cancer: why is incidence increasing? Curr Opin Oncol. 2015;27(1):1-7.

35. Zhang J, Liu BJ, Xu HX, Xu JM, Zhang YF, Liu C, et al. Prospective validation of an ultrasound-based thyroid imaging reporting and data system (TI-RADS) on 3980 thyroid nodules. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2015;8(4):5911-7.

# APPENDIX A: HREC CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE



R14/49 Dr Sunette Claassens

#### HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (MEDICAL)

#### CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE NO. M150617

<u>NAME:</u> (Principal Investigator)	Dr Sunette Claassens				
DEPARTMENT:	Radiation Sciences Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital Chris Hani Baragwanath Academic Hospital				
PROJECT TITLE:	Quality Assessment of Thyroid Ultrasound and Immplementation of a Standard Reporting Template to be used in Training Hospitals				
DATE CONSIDERED:	26/06/2015				
DECISION:	Approved unconditionally				
CONDITIONS:					
SUPERVISOR:	Dr Claire Mitchell				
APPROVED BY:	lleater form				
	Professor P Cleaton-Jones, Chairperson, HREC (Medical)				
DATE OF APPROVAL:	11/01/2016				
This clearance certificate is v	This clearance certificate is valid for 5 years from date of approval. Extension may be applied for.				
DECLARATION OF INVESTIGATORS					

To be completed in duplicate and **ONE COPY** returned to the Secretary in Room 10004, 10th floor, Senate House, University. I/we fully understand the conditions under which I am/we are authorized to carry out the above-mentioned

I/we fully understand the conditions under which I am/we are authorized to carry out the above-mentioned research and I/we undertake to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure be contemplated, from the research protocol as approved, I/we undertake to resubmit the application to the Committee. <u>I agree to submit a yearly progress report</u>.

Principal Investigator Signature

Date

PLEASE QUOTE THE PROTOCOL NUMBER IN ALL ENQUIRIES

# APPENDIX B: PROTOCOL COMMITTEE LETTER OF PERMISSION

University of the Witwo torsand	ERSRAND, JOHANNESBURG ES CANDIDATE: Sunette Clarssens
Date of Assessor Group Meeting:	Student no: - OSO1014P
Vies  No  Is the research question clearly ider    Comments:	ntified and described?
;	
Yes No Notentirely Is the design of the study and methods used appropriate for the Comments:	research question being asked? in whe run by of putients iternational standards." patients on data sheet a l'analin score sheat" to "I data leat" of pape 10 mergeny altou so mil st not night (al) equeny at altrusound probes used. Eincomplete. E Gues for study fixed remain to "sollect of payor & Chucy Objectives
Is the study feasible within: i. the applicant's resources? ii. the departments resources? iii. the time frame?	No No

Do you recommend:						
i.	shortening / lengthening of the protocol? Please specify and explain.	No				
ii.	the appointment of a co-supervisor? Or. C. H. La han Nominee/s :	No ana (70%)				
Overail recon	commendation regarding the protocol :	in a second seco				
i.	revision of the protocol to the Supervisor (if HOD approval is also required, specify): (Candidates: one copy, list of corrections, supervisor approval letter – subto PG Office)	please types No				
ä.	revision of the protocol to the satisfaction of the Assessor Group: (Candidates: six copies, list of corrections, supervisor approval letter – sub to PG Office)	mit Yes No				
iii.	revision of the protocol and resubmission of the revised protocol to the next Group Meeting: (Candidates: six copies, list of corrections, supervisor approval letter – subr one copy to PG Office / 5 to school assessor group administrator/ for PhD at to be submitted to the PG Office)	Assessor Yes No I six copies				
iv.	candidate goes ahead:	Yes				
Assessor Na	Names and Signatures:	Assessor Group Chair				
		2 (11   1.5 Date				

# APPENDIX C: STANDARD THYROID ULTRASOUND REPORTING TEMPLATE

#### THYROID ULTRASOUND REPORT

Patient name:	Hospital nr:		Date:		
Echogenicity of overall thyroid gland:	Normal / 个	/ ↓	/Heterogeneous		
If Heterogeneous, describe:					
Lymph nodes: Normal / Pathological.	Description and Zor	ne (I-VII):			
Parathyroids visualised: Y / N	Description:				

If Nodules are present, please describe in table below or answer Y or N. (Features in brackets listed from benign to suspicious, very suspicious features listed in bold).

NODULES	1	2	3	4
Size				
(>1cm is significant)				
Site within gland				
Consistency				
(purely cystic,				
spongiform, mixed, <b>solid</b> )				
Echogenicity				
(Hyper-, Iso- or <b>Hypo</b> -)				
Taller than wide?				
(AP> transverse				
diameter)				
Margin/ contour				
(Circumscribed,				
Obscured, Irregular)				
Microcalcifications				
Vascularity				
(scarce, peripheral,				
central)				
Hypoechoic rim/Halo				
CLASSIFICATION				
Benign, Indeterminate,				
Suspicious, Malignant				
FNA recommended?				

## ASSESSMENT: \_\_\_\_\_

#### ULTRASOUND DONE BY: \_\_\_\_\_